IN THE UNI TED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE

SOUTHERN DI STRI CT OF GEORGI A
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V.

JAMES ANGEL and GLENN DEATON
d/ b/ a Abercorn Legal Clinic
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Def endant s

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

The above-capti oned adversary conpl ai nt was filed on
Sept ember 14, 1990, seeking an order of this Court to require the
Def endants to return conmpensation received by them for the rendering
of certain services in connection with cases filed by debtors acting
in a pro se capacity wi t hout benefit of l'icensed counsel . The
conmpl ai nt sets forth as alternative grounds for recovering of the

sumns of money pai d by said i ndi vi dual debtors: (A That the



payments made by the debtors to the Def endant s wer e not properly

di sclosed as required by the Bankruptcy Code and Rules. (B) That
the Court has the authority to revi ew and al l ow or di sal |l ow
conmpensation to be paid by the individual debtors to the Defendants

and disallow such portion of the payments made as the Court m ght
determne to be excessive, under the theory that compensation pai d
to a non-lawyer is nevertheless within the purview and jurisdiction
of this Court under 11 U.S.C. Section 329 and Bankruptcy Rule 2017.
(O That the payments may constitute voidable preferences under 11

U. S.C. Section 547

The Plaintiff prayed for such "further relief as may
seem just and proper."” At trial the Plaintiff i ntroduced evidence
in support of its position t hat Def endant s are engaged in the
unaut hori zed ©practice of law in violation of O.C. G A Section 15-19-
51 and sought, by way of further relief, injunctive relief to
prevent such activity from being engaged in in the future. Af ter
consi deration of the evi dence, the applicable authorities and the

arguments presented the Court enters the following Findings of Fact

and Concl usions of Law.

FI NDI NGS OF FACT

Many of the facts established at trial are common to al
three cases before ne. Cthers vary from case to case and will be

treated accordingly.

Fi ndi ngs of Fact Common To All Three Proceedings:




1) Abercorn Legal Clinic obtained a business Ilicense in
the spring or early summer of 1990. The busi ness license was
obtained by Defendant Angel who represented on the application that
Def endant Deat on was a co- owner of t he busi ness. However, the
license was issued only in the name of Def endant  Angel . Def endant
Deaton had made a nom nal investment of approximately $125.00 1in the
busi ness whi ch constituted hi s share  of the fee for the busi ness
l'icense. He subsequently | ear ned t hat participation in this

busi ness woul d vi ol ate t he adm nistrative regul ati ons applicable to

hi s empl oyment and i nformed Angel t hat he could not continue to
participate in the business. Angel agreed to continue the business
wi t hout the invol vement of Deaton and offered to return the $125.00
to him Deaton informed him that he <could repay the noney when it
did not constitute a burden on him to do so. Deaton thereafter
never participated in the business, met with custonmers of the firm
rendered any advice, or otherwi se assisted «clients of the business
in preparing document s for filing in this Court. Deat on never
received any income from the enterprise and retains no interest in

t he busi ness.

Af ter procuring the l'i cense, Angel adverti sed hi s
busi ness in a number of publ i cations generally listing the
availability of hi s services under the "Legal Services”
classification (Exhi bits P- 2, P- 3, P-4 and P-6). In addition to
being Ilisted under "Legal Servi ces", the ads contained the name of
the busi ness "Abercorn Legal Clinic." Certain of the ads al so
cont ai ned | anguage which i ndi cated that the nature of the services

rendered were of a |legal nature as for exanple:

Under the heading "Legal Services":



ABERCORN
LEGAL CLI NI C
Bankruptcy (7) $75. Divorce
$50. 1 hour service. 6203
Abercorn. 354-5500.

An undeterm ned number of debtors, upon seeing the ads and believing
that they were in need of relief under the bankruptcy laws of the
United States, contacted the offices of the Abercorn Legal Clinic by
tel ephone or in person, pai d f ees whi ch apparently ranged from

$99.00 to $150.00, and were provided with documents to be filed 1in

this Court. The debt ors woul d appear at t he of fices of the
Def endant and be intervi ewed by Def endant Angel or a secretary
working in his employ and at his direction. Angel or his enployee,
using a computer software program would obtain information from the
debtor concerning the debtor's assets and liabilities. By asking a
nunber of questions usi ng a form book of some sort, Def endant
gener at ed, with the computer, a vol untary Chapter 7 petition,
St at ement of Fi nanci al Affairs for Debt or Not Engaged in Busi ness,
Schedul es  of Assets and Liabilities, Summary  of Debts and Property,
and Schedule of Current Income and Current Expendi tures. Al | these

document s wer e delivered to the debt ors who si gned t hem under
penalty of perjury and thereafter physically delivered them +to the

Office of the Clerk of this Court for filing.

Angel informed the debtors that he was not an attorney
but told them that they did not need an attorney in order to file
bankruptcy. He had each of the debtors sign a disclaimer agreeing

t hat Defendant was not rendering |legal services.!?

! The Text of the disclainmer reads:
Abercorn Legal dinic, 6203 Abercorn Street,
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Suite 103-D, Savannah, Georgia, (912) 354-5500
Thank you for allowing our service to assist you
wi th our | egal needs.
Abercorn Legal dinic is a Non-Lawer Lega
Secretari al Service designed to assist i ndi viduals who
cannot financially afford an attorney.
The dinic's function is the preparation of

document s al ong wi t h providing restrictive
adm ni strative i nformation whi ch wil | hel p you t he
client to self representation in routine civil matters.

YOU ARE NOT BEI NG REPRESENTED BY AN ATTORNEY!
As a Non-Lawyer Service, Abercorn Legal dinic
cannot give you legal advice as to what wuld be Dbest

for you in your specific situation, interpretation of
the law, strategy, or the filing of legal actions and
nor e. Help wus keep this service available, pl ease do
not ask for |egal advice.

Your docunents wll be prepared wth the
i nformati on you subm t, for your benefit pl ease be

accurate and truthful
Once your papers have been prepared they nust be
signed, verified and filed at the Courthouse which holds

jurisdiction for that specific action. Abercorn Legal
Cinic wll further informyou of this information.

Most routine civil matters are sinple and the
Georgia Constitution clearly states Article 1, Section
1, Paragraph 12, "No person shall be deprived of the
right to prosecute or defend =either in person or Dby

attorney, that person's own cause in any Court of this
State.'
Anyone attenpting to deny you access to the Court

Is in violation of Federal and State Law. You nmust Dbe
treated wth dignity and respect by all Court personne
and Judges, State and Federal. IF YOQU FEEL YOUR RICGHTS

ARE BEING VIOATED YOU NMNAY CONTACT THE GEORA A BAR AT
(404) 527-8700 AND FILE A COVPLAI NT!

I have read and understand the provisions
contained herein and hereby agree wth the sanme and
further, request ABERCORN LEGAL CLINNC to assist ne wth

t he preparation of | egal docunent s SO t hat I may
r epr esent nmysel f pur suant to Article 1, Secti on 1

Par agr aph 12 of t he Georgi a Constitution and t hat
ABERCORN LEGAL CLI NI C, its' representatives are not
attorneys and | have not been given legal advice in any
manner and do not desire | egal counsel t hereto
appertai ni ng. That ABERCORN LEGAL CLINIC its

representatives shall i ncur no |egal responsi bility for



Debtors also acknow edged that if there were any errors or om ssions

on the documents prepared for them by the Defendant that the debtors

were solely responsible for those in representing thenselves in
proceedi ngs. Each set of docunent s contai ned a "Di scl osure
Conmpensati on Under 11 U Ss. C Section 329 and Bankr uptcy

2016(b)" which stated

I certify that | am the attorney for
t he above- named debt or and t hat t he
compensation paid or agreed to be paid to
me for services rendered . . . on behalf of
the debtor . . . is as follows: $ O
That di sclosure was in each <case signed by the debtors individually

rat her t han anyone si gni ng as attorney for the debt or
vol untary petition represent ed in par agr aph three "petitioners

qualified to file this petition and are entitled to benefits

Title 11, United States Code, as voluntary debtors" and in paragraph

four "petitioners are aware that they may proceed under Chapt er

11, 12 or 13, of Title 11, United States Code, understand the relief

avai l abl e under each such chapter and choose to proceed under

Chapter 7 of such title." Attached to each petition was an Exhibit

"B" reading, in relevant part:

I, (PETITIONER), the attorney for the

petitioners named in the foregoing
petition, decl are that I have informed the
petitioners t hat t hey may proceed under

chapter 7 or 13 of title 11, United States

om ssi on or error or i nconpl ete or I naccur ate
I nformati on cont ai ned t herein any docunent s pr epar ed.
That ny fee is for secretarial duties at which there are
no refunds for paperwork already prepared.

Dated this day of , 1990.
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Code, and have expl ai ned t he relief
avai |l abl e under each such chapter

That certification was in all cases signed by the individual debt ors
and not by any attorney on their behal f. The wor d petitioner
inserted in parenthesis is an alteration to Official Form 1. In
addi ti on, question 15 to the debtor's Statenent of Fi nanci al Affairs
"Payment s or Transfers to Attorneys” does not conform to Official
Form 7.

Questions 15(b) and 15(c) of Official Bankruptcy Form 7

read as follows:

b. Have you during the year i mmedi ately
precedi ng or since the filing of the
original petition herein paid any nmoney or
transferred any property to the attorney,
to any ot her person on the attorney's
behal f, or to any ot her person rendering
services to you in connection wi th this
case? (1f so give particul ars, including
amount paid or val ue of property
transferred and dat e of payment or

transfer.)

C. Have you, eit her during the year
i mmedi ately precedi ng or since the filing
of the original petition herein, agreed to
pay any nmoney or transfer any property to
an attorney at Jlaw, to any other person on
t he attorney's behal f, or to any ot her
person rendering services to you in
connection with this case? (1f so, give
particul ars, i ncl udi ng amount and terms of

obligation.) (enphasis added)

The form prepared by the Defendant and submitted to
this Court cont ai ns an al tered version of questions 15(b) and

15(c):
b. Have you during the year immediately
precedi ng or since the filing of the
original petition herein paid any noney or
transferred any property to the attorney or
to any other person on his behalf? (1f so,
give particul ars including amount paid or



val ue of property transferred and dat e of
transfer.)

C. Have you, either during the year
i mmedi ately precedi ng or since the filing
of the original petition herein, agreed to
pay any noney or transfer any property to
an attorney at Jlaw, or to any other person
on hi s/ her behal f ? (1f so, give
particul ars, including amount and terms of

obligation.)

The Def endant del et ed the |l anguage whi ch woul d have

reveal ed paynments to other persons" and debtors therefore answered

no to the question whether they had paid any noney or transferred

any property to the attorney or to any other person on his behalf."
Because of the alteration of Official Form 7, the payment to the

Def endant was not reveal ed.

LOUI S E. AND DONNA A. DEUTSCH

M. and M s. Deut sch execut ed their j oi nt vol untary
petition on July 11, 1990, and it was filed in this Court on July

12, 1990, with paynment of only a portion of the filing fee in the

amount of $20. 00. Schedul e B-1 to their petition sets forth a
val uation of real property owned of $798. 00. However, neit her M .
nor Ms. Deutsch owned any interest in real estate. Schedul e B-2(f)
reveals that the Debtors have an interest in a 1988 Dodge Shadow and
a 1976 Toyota automobile which they value at $200.00. M s. Deut sch

who was the only one of the two Debtors to visit the offices of the

Def endant s, testified (and her testinmony was both uncontradicted and
credi bl e) t hat she informed Defendant Angel t hat the valuation she
placed on the autonmobile was $5,000.00 and that his insertion of a

$200.00 valuation on both vehicles was not directed or suggested by

her to him She paid $150.00 in <cash to M. Angel not wi t hst andi ng



the fact that she was wunable to pay her filing fee in full at the
time the <case was filed. Question 15 to the Statenment of Affairs,
as previously indicated, reveals no paynent made to the Defendant or

to anyone "rendering services to the debtors in connection with this

case" as required by Official Form 7. Debt or s’ Schedul e B- 4,
Property Claimed as Exenpt , st at es " Debt or selects the property as
exenpt pur suant to the indicated subsection of the Florida statutes
and/ or Fl orida constitution." In fact, t he schedul e refers to the
Official Code of Georgi a and reveal s t hat Debt or s cl ai med an

exenption totalling $329.00 as to husband and $129.00 as to the wife
in cash, househol d goods and t he t wo aut onobi | es. Debtor's

testimony was uncontradi cted that t he exemptions were reviewed with

her briefly by M. Angel , t hat she discussed with him in general
what property she owned but never instructed him as to what property
she wished to <claim as exenpt. The entire decision as to what

property to claimas exempt was made by M. Angel.

Angel di scussed the di fferences bet ween Chapter 7 and
Chapter 13 with Ms. Deutsch and informed her of the consequences of
proceeding under the two chapters. Because of errors which she has
now come to realize exi st in her petition and schedul es, M s.
Deut sch believes that it wi |l be necessary for her to obtain the
services of a |lawyer either to file amendments to her pl eadings in

this Court or to dismss her <case and begin with a new proceeding.

Angel interviewed her concerning her famly's income and expenses
and assisted her in the ©preparation of the famly's current i ncome
and expenditures. M s. Deut sch used Abercorn Legal Clinic because

the fee quoted to her by phone was cheaper than that quoted by

l'icensed attorneys. She was awar e t hat the personnel at the



Abercorn Legal Clinic were not Ilicensed to practice law in the State

of Georgi a.

Angel further induced the Debtor to pay $150.00 in cash
notwi t hstanding the fact that she was wunable to pay her filing fees
in full at the time the <case was filed. This is a clear violation

of Bankruptcy Rule 1006(b)(3) which provides:

(3) Post ponenment of Attorney's Fees. The
filing fee must be paid in full before the
debt or or chapter 13 trustee may pay an
attorney or any ot her person who renders

services to the debt or in connection wi th
t he case.
S. ELANGOVAN
M. El angovan filed his individual voluntary petition on

July 20, 1990, and signed the same wunder penalty of perjury on June

29, 1990. M . El angovan paid $99.00 in cash to Defendant Angel
after respondi ng to an ad in the Pennysaver magazi ne for the
Abercorn Legal Clinic. In his Schedule B-2, a 1985 Toyota Corolla
is listed with a value of $100.00 notwi thstanding the fact that M.
El angovan had informed M. Angel that the value of the same vehicle
was $2, 000. 00. M. Angel was al so told t hat the Debt or owed
approxi mately $3,000.00 on the vehicle and took it upon hinsel f to

report a value on the vehicle of only $100.00 apparently due to a
m sunder st andi ng on hi s part t hat the val uation set forth on
Schedule B-2 is to be mde "without deduction for secured claims."
Wth respect to the Schedule B-4, M. El angovan was advised by M.
Angel what he coul d exenpt . Debt or made no sel ection of what
property to «claim as exenpt hi msel f. The introductory paragraph to

hi s Schedule B-4 clains hi s exemption pursuant to Florida statutes

10



and the Florida constitution but, in fact, refers to 522(d)(4), an
apparent reference to 11 U S. C Section 522 rather than any state
statute. He claimed a total of $320.00 as exenpt, consisting of

cash, personal clothing, and the 1985 Toyota Coroll a.

M. El angovan did not sel ect any of the | anguage
enmployed in his individual voluntary petition. Speci fically, he did
not direct the Defendant to include the I|anguage in paragraph three
regardi ng eligibility and has no idea whether he is eligible for
relief under the Bankr upt cy Code. M. Angel expl ai ned the

di fference bet ween Chapt er 7 and Chapt er 13 to hi m al t hough the

Debtor was aware of the existence of different chapters available to

debt ors under the bankruptcy | aws. M . El angovan knew that M .
Angel was not an attorney and went to him because an attorney had
quoted a higher price for his services. He understood that the

Def endant was operating a "paral egal service."

Question 15 to the Debtor's St at ement of Affairs does
not reveal the payment made to the Defendant in exchange for the
services rendered. Debt or was not usi ng an attorney and

acknow edged that he signed a statement t hat he was responsible for

any errors. He Dbelieved that proper forms would be used by the
Def endant, t hat usi ng their service would guar ant ee t hat he woul d
"not get into any trouble", and believed that he was paying for nmore

than mere typing because he was receiving advice as to what to do.

ALAN D. AM S

M. Am s si gned hi s i ndi vi dual vol untary petition on
August 9, 1990, and filed it in this Court on the sanme date. At the
time of filing he paid none of the filing fee and was by Order dated
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August 9, 1990, ordered to pay $60.00 within thirty (30) days of the

filing of the petition and $60.00 sixty (60) days from the filing of

the original petition. Debtor has not <conmplied with that Order. No
filing fee has been received in the Clerk's Office. In M. Am s'
case he never spoke with M. Angel , but deal t strictly with a Ms.
Edenfield who is an employee of and secretary to M. Angel. He paid

a $99.00 cash fee for the services recei ved from Abercorn Legal
Clinic. M . Am s was shown a form explaining t he di fferences
bet ween Chapter 7 and Chapter 13 by Ms. Edenfield and proceeded with

hi s Chapter 7 case.

W th respect to M . Am s' Schedul e B- 4 Cl ai m of
Exenpti on, he |lists only cash, cl ot hi ng, and personal effects in the
amount of $110.00 as exenpt. His exenption was asserted under the
Fl ori da constitution and st at ut es but cited Georgi a statutory
provisions. He did not nmake the decision what or how nmuch to claim
as exempt, but that decision was made for him by the Defendant. He
did answer a nunber of questions propounded to him by M. Edenfield

who used a form book or referred to a conmputer screen that she was

oper ating. Question 15 to his Statement of Affairs does not reveal
the $99.00 payment to Abercorn Legal Clinic. M . Am s suggest ed
none of the |anguage found on his individual voluntary petition and
specifically made no deci si on whet her the | anguage of par agr aphs
three and four should be included. M. Ams stated that the total
elapsed time in the offices of the Defendant was approximately an
hour and a half, but that due to a computer malfunction there was a
delay in printing the docunments. During this delay he had left the
offices and returned. Accordi ngly, his testimony as to the anmount
of time necessary to prepare these documents s consistent with that
of Ms. Deutsch and M. El angovan in suggesting that the total time
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for the preparation and printing of the forms is bet ween one-half

hour and one hour.

Essentially the three pri mary i ssues present ed to the

Court in these proceedings are as foll ows:

a) Whet her the Defendants are required to reveal the anmount paid by
debtors coming to their pl ace of busi ness for services rendered
in connection with their bankruptcy cases.

b) If the fees <charged for services rendered are properly revealed,
whether the fees charged are reasonable or excessive and in what

amount, and if excessive what the appropriate remedy is.

c) Whet her Def endant s are engaged in t he unaut hori zed practice of

law and if so, what the appropriate remedy is.

These questions will be dealt with separately hereinafter.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

Inasmuch as | have determ ned that Defendant Deaton has not been
involved with the activities cited herein, | wi |l gr ant hi s Mot i on
to Dismss and make the following Conclusions of Law and Order with
regard to Defendant Angel and others employed by him
l. Def endant s ar e Requi r ed to Reveal the Amount Pai d by Debt or s

Com ng to Their Pl ace of Busi ness for Services Render ed in
Connection with Bankruptcy Cases.

11 U. S. C Section 329 of the Bankruptcy Code requires a

debtor's attorney to file with the Court a statement of conpensation
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which has been paid to him or agreed to be paid for his services.
Section 329 permts the Bankr uptcy Court to determ ne the

reasonabl eness of his compensation. Section 329 reads as foll ows:

(a) Any attorney representing a debtor in
a case under this title, or in connection
with such a case, whet her or not such
attorney applies for compensation under
this title, shal | file with t he court a
st at ement of the conmpensation paid or
agreed to be pai d, if such payment or

agreenment was made after one year before
the date of the filing of the petition, for

services rendered or to be rendered in
contempl ati on  of or in connection with the
case by such attorney, and the source of

such conpensation

(b) | f such conmpensation exceeds the
reasonabl e val ue of any such services, t he
court may cancel any such agreement, or
order the return of any such payment , to

t he extent excessive, to--
(1) the estate if the property
transferred-
(A) woul d have been property  of t he
estate; or
(B) was to be paid by or on behalf of
the debt or under a pl an under
chapter 11, 12, or 13 of this
title; or

(2) the entity that made such paynment.

The fact that Angel is not a l|licensed attorney at | aw
does not excuse him from conpliance with Section 329. In re

Webst er, 120 B. R. 111, 114  (Bankr. E.D. W s. 1990) [(citing In re

Tel ford, 36 B.R 92 (9th Cir. BAP 1984); In _re Glad, 98 B. R 976

(9th Cir. BAP 1989); In _re Grines, 115 B.R. 639, 649 (Bankr. D. S. D.

1990)]. As noted in Telford:

The term "attorney' is used in vari ous
sections of the Bankruptcy Code . .
Ordinarily, the term cont enpl at es someone
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I  find
he was
paid by

cases but

licensed to practice |aw. Particul arly, in
§542(c) [requiring turnover of the debtor's
records] and §502(b) (5) [ providing for
al | owance of claims in a reasonable amount
to an attorney or insider] it would be an
anomal y i f t hose sections did not reach
unl i censed i ndi vi dual s who are per form ng
| egal services.

In Jones v. Ameri can Bankruptcy Council, 1

B. C. D. 870 (D.C. Ca. Zirpoli, D.J., 1974) a

lay person who sold 'The Layman's Guide to

Bankr uptcy' asserted t hat the court was

wi t hout jurisdiction over a lay person and

t hat only goods, not services, wer e sol d.

Section 60(d) of t he Bankr uptcy Act

empower ed the bankruptcy court to exam ne

any agreement bet ween the debt or and an
attorney at law for services render ed in
connection with the petition and permtted
cancel l ation of any excess obligation. The
court poi nt ed out from the | egi slative

history of t he 1963 amendment §60(d)

t hat it is not so much  who renders the

services but what sort of services are

rendered t hat is the subj ect of inquiry.

It is the |egal service rendered or to be

rendered in contenpl ation of bankruptcy

t hat the court may exam ne on its own

notion. The court affirmed the approach of

the bankruptcy judge as consonant with the
pur pose of §60(d), saying that the stimulus

t hat woul d cause peopl e to seek the

services of a lay person is the same fear

t hat caused Congress to amend §60(d),

namel y, the fear of hi gh attorney's f ees.

' . . . [1]t would be odd that section

60(d) shoul d permt no revi ew of f ees

charged by peopl e i ke appel | ant if, in

fact, he is providing |egal services.' .

. . The trial court shoul d determ ne if

Goudi e was practicing |[|aw. | f so, he is

subj ect to §329 even t hough he is

unl i censed. The gener al principles for
all owi ng fees should apply.

36 B.R. at 94 (enphasis provided).

Because, as will be further clarified in this Opinion,
that the Defendant Angel was engaged in the practice of |aw,
required to reveal the amount paid by debtors or agreed to be

debtors for his services in <connection with their bankruptcy

failed to do so

11 U.S. C. §329.
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I, Def endants are Engaged in the Unauthorized Practice of Law.

In det er m ni ng what constitutes the unaut hori zed
practice of law before United States Bankruptcy Courts, the courts
look to state Jlaw for guidance. In re Bachman, 113 B. R 769, 772
(Bankr . S. D. Fl a., 1990) . Persons not |icensed as attorneys at |aw
are prohi bi ted from practicing law within the State of Georgi a.

Georgi a I aw, O.C. G A Section 15-19-51 prohibits and defines the

unaut hori zed practice of |aw and reads in relevant part:

(a) It shal | be unl awf ul for any person

other than a duly |licensed attorney at |aw

(4) To render or furnish |egal services or
advi ce;

(6) To render | egal services  of any kind
in actions or proceedi ngs of any
nat ure;

(7) To assume or use or advertise the
title of "l awyer ', "attorney',
"attorney at | aw , or equival ent ternms
in any |anguage in such manner as to
convey t he i mpressi on t hat he is
entitled to practice | aw or is
entitled to furnish | egal advi ce,

services, or counsel; or

(8) To advertise t hat either al one or
t oget her wi t h, by, or t hrough any
person, whet her a duly and regularly
adm tted attorney at law or not, he
has, owns, conduct s, or mai nt ai ns an
office for the practice of law or for
furnishing | egal advi ce, services, or
counsel .

(b) Unl ess otherwi se provided by law or by

rules pronmulgated by the Supreme Court, it

shal | be unl awf ul for any corporation,
voluntary association, or company to do or
perform any of t he acts recited in

subsection (a) of this Code section.
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0. C. G A Section 15-19-56 provi des the penalty for prohi bited

conduct:

(a) Any person, corporation or voluntary

associ ation vi ol ati ng Code Section 15-19-51

shall be guilty of a m sdenmeanor

(b) Every of ficer, trust ee, director,

agent, or enpl oyee of a corporation or

vol untary associ ation who directly or

indirectly engages in any of t he acts

prohibited in Code Section 15-19-51 .

or assists a cor poration or voluntary

associ ation in perform ng the prohi bited

acts shall be gquilty of a msdenmeanor .

Not hi ng in this subsection shal | prevent

any court havi ng jurisdiction from

puni shi ng the corporation or its of ficers

for contempt.

As early as 1931, the Supreme Court of Georgia defined
the practice of law in this state as including the preparation of

|l egal instrunments:

[ We] are of the opinion that the practice

of law . . . [is] not confined to practice
in the courts of this state, but [is] of
| ar ger scope, i ncl udi ng the preparation of
pl eadi ngs and ot her papers incident to any
action or speci al proceedings in any court
or ot her j udi ci al body, conveyanci ng, t he
preparation of al | | egal instruments of al |
ki nds whereby a |egal right is secured, the

rendering of opinions as to the wvalidity or
invalidity of the title to real or persona

property, the gi vi ng of any | egal advi ce,
and any action taken for ot hers in any
matter connected with the |[|aw. Boykin v
Hopki ns, 174 Ga. 511, 519, 162 S. E. 796
(1931).

M. WIlliam P. Sm th, Gener al Counsel for the State Bar
of Georgi a, appeared as an expert wi tness on behalf of the United
States Trustee and was qualified to testify as to the scope of the

practice of Jlaw in the State of Georgia. Mr . Smith testified that
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the practice of law in this state is defined as the giving of any

| egal advi ce and any action t aken for ot hers in any manner in
connection with the |aw. See Dixon v. Reliable Loans, lnc., 112 Ga.
App. 618, 145 S. E. 2d 771 (Ga. App. 1965) . M . Smith further
testified that, in his expert opi ni on, a person wishing to prepare
| egal petitions for anot her, wi t hout practicing law in this state,
is limted to sinmply giving the document to the person, havi ng that
person fill it out, and retyping the precise information in the same
configuration as given by the custoner. | f the individual perfornms
any addi tional function such as correcting t he form seeki ng
addi ti onal i nformation, rearranging the i nformation whi ch has been

submtted or placed on the form or advising the person how to fill

out the form such acts go beyond the mere furnishing of "typing
services" and constitutes the gi vi ng of | egal advi ce and the
unaut hori zed practice of | aw. | find M. Smith's testinony to be

persuasi ve and adopt the parameters testified to by him as the

appropriate scope of the practice of law in this state.

It is clear based wupon the testimony of Ms. Deut sch
that Defendant Angel went well beyond the permtted scope of a |egal
"typing service" and was engaged in the unaut hori zed practice of
| aw. The uncontradicted testinony of Ms. Deutsch reveals that Mr .
Angel not only rendered | egal advi ce in di scussi ng t he relative
merits of a Chapter 7 versus Chapter 13 filing and in assisting Ms.
Deutsch in the preparation of the famly's report of current i ncome
and expendi tures, but he took it upon hi msel f to review possible
exenptions wi th Ms. Deut sch and i ndependent |y determ ne what
property, in his lay opinion, she was entitled to exenpt. This is
clearly the unauthorized practice of law proscribed by Georgia Law
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It is also clear t hat Def endant Angel engaged in the

unaut hori zed practice of law in hi s val uation of M. El angovan's
aut omobi | e, hi s advi si ng M. El angovan as to what property he
considered was proper to exenpt, and his advising M. El angovan as
to hi s under st andi ng of the di fferences bet ween Chapt er 7 and

Chapter 13 of the Bankruptcy Code.

As to the Ams case, it is cl ear t hat Ms. Edenfi el d,
secretary and enmpl oyee of Def endant Angel , engaged in t he
unaut hori zed practice of law in showing M. Am s a form explaining
the Abercorn Legal Clinic's determ nation of the differences between
Chapt er 7 and Chapt er 13 of the Bankruptcy Code, in maki ng the

decision as to what <claim of exenptions to make and how to claim the
exemptions, and in maki ng the determ nation as to the Debtor's

qualification for seeking relief under the bankruptcy | aws.

Finally, the Defendants' use of the word "legal” in both
the business name and in numerous advertisements <clearly shows that

t he Defendant purported to offer |egal services, for instance:

Under the headi ng "Legal Services" in the
Savannah Pennysaver, Wednesday, Sept enber
26, 1990 at page Al18 and in substantially
sim | ar i f not i denti cal form in t he

Savannah Pennysaver on August 15, 1990 (p.
Al6), August 22, 1990 (p. A18), Sept ember
5, 1990 (p- Al6), and Sept ember 19, 1990
(p. Al15):

ABERCORN LEGAL CLINIC
Bankruptcy (7) $75. Di vorce  $50. 1  hour
service. 6203 Abercorn. 354-5500.

Having determined that the Defendant and persons in his

empl oy have -engaged in the unauthorized practice of Jlaw in violation
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of O. C. G A Sections 15-19-51 and 56, t he vi ol ation of 11 u.S. C

Section 329, and the violation of Bankruptcy Rule 1006(b)(3), | now
consi der an appropriate remedy. I'n consi dering the appropriate
remedy to regul ate the unaut hori zed practice of | aw, courts shal |
consider the policy of protecting the public's interest in effective
| egal representation and also shall recognize the lack of a civil

mal practice remedy for persons damaged by a non-lawyer practitioner.

Matter of Arthur, 15 B.R. 541 (Bankr. E.D.Pa. 1981). In In re Chas.

A. Stevens & Co., 108 B. R. 191, 194 (Bankr. N.D.Il'l. 1989), the

Court decl ared:

In extreme cases, the unaut hori zed practice
of law may be enj oi ned wher e it appears
t hat an i njunction is the only remedy to

stop such a practice.

This is an extreme case which warrants the issuance of
a permanent injunction. Def endant Angel , doing business as Abercorn
Legal Clinic, and those in his enploy have preyed wupon unfortunate
debtors at a time when they are nost vulnerable. As a non-attorney
he is not subj ect to, nor ar e hi s "clients" entitled to t he
protection of the Standards of Conduct set forth in the Rules and

Regul ations for the Organization and Government of the State Bar of
Georgi a, a sel f-regul ating body of prof essional s wi th very hi gh

et hi cal standards with which each and every nmember of the State Bar

of Georgia is required to comply or face harsh discipline. Rat her
than the full di scl osure of al | rel evant facts and conplete candor
expected of an attorney before this tribunal, Def endant Angel and
ot hers in hi s empl oy have taken steps to conceal the fact t hat

conpensation was paid over to them for bankruptcy related services.

Accordingly, the remedy of a permanent injunction is appropriate.
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ORDER

I nasmuch as | find t hat Def endant James Angel , and
Abercorn Legal Clinic, and Ms. Edenfi el d, as secretary and enployee
of Def endant James  Angel , doi ng busi ness as Abercorn Legal Clinic,
were engaged in the unauthorized practice of law in this state in
viol ation of O.C. G A Sections 15-19-51 and 15-19- 56, and 11
u.S. C Section 329 and Bankruptcy Rule 1006(b)(3), IT |IS THE ORDER

OF THI'S COURT that:

1) Def endant Janes Angel, Abercorn Legal Clinic, and all persons in

its employ in any capacity and doing business wunder any name be

and her eby are per manent |y enj oi ned from engagi ng in the
unaut hori zed practice of I aw, whi ch unaut hori zed actions
i nclude: provi di ng counsel ling, advi ce, and recommendat i ons

with respect to any of the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and
Rul es; preparing, either directly or indirectly, the bankruptcy
petition, st at ement of affairs and schedul es; and preparing any
moti ons or applications of any ki nd pertaining to bankruptcy.
However, Def endant s wi |l be permtted to perform a bona fide
typing service provided the typing service performed is strictly

limted to typi ng verbatim of pl eadi ngs or forms prepar ed by

i ndi vi dual debtors, exactly as submtted by the debtors to the
Def endant s. For any and al | such typi ng services render ed,
Def endant s shal | be required to mai nt ai n records on file

including the original copy submtted by the debtor for typing
in the debtor's handwriting, to evidence strict conmpliance with

this Order
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2)

3)

4)

That Def endants shall, within ten (10) days from the date of
this Order, remt to Debtors, Louis E. and Donna A. Deutsch, S.
El angovan and Al an D. Am s, any and al | fees col l ected for
services render ed in connection with their respective bankruptcy
filings. That is, $150.00 to Louis E. and Donna A. Deut sch,
$99. 00 to S. El angovan, and $99. 00 to Al an D. Am s, or such

ot her amount as Defendants received from the respective parties.

I'n view of the fact t hat sai d "services" wer e unl awf ul and
efforts wer e made to conceal sai d payment s from this Court,
Def endant shal | not retain any funds coll ected from these
Debt or s. Let j udgnment agai nst Def endant for sai d amount s be
ent er ed.

Def endant shal |, within ten (10) days after the date of this
Or der, turn over to the Unit ed St ates Trust ee, the following:
The names and addr esses of al | parties (i ncluding persons,
corporations, partnerships and ot her entities) with whom he has
or i nt ends to provide any services relating to bankruptcy
matters in this District. The Uni t ed St at es Trustee is
authorized to take whatever steps he deems appropriate to inform

those parties of their rights with regard to the rulings herein.

For any bona fide typing services render ed in compliance with
Paragraph "1" of this Order, Def endant's maxi mum conmpensation is
limted to the anount of $25. 00, unless a showing is nrmade to
this Court, in compl i ance with Bankruptcy Rul e 2016, t hat a
hi gher amount is justified under the circumstances for each and

every case in which a higher anmount is sought.
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5  Wth

is enjoined from advertising any m sl eading fashion which

a reasonabl e person to t hat it offers t he public

services, | egal advi ce, | egal assi stance regardi ng

Def endant is therefore limted to advertising hi s

activities of provi di ng secretarial, not ary, and/ or typi ng

Def endant may al so advertise t hat he sells bankruptcy fornms

gener al printed information regard to those forms so

such information does not constitute | egal advice as defined

Or der.

6) Nothing in this Order be construed as Ilimting the
St at es Trustee's authority request further sancti ons
event of any violation Def endant James Angel, Abercorn
Clinic, or others in empl oy nmentioned in this Order

busi ness under

Dat ed at

Thi s

regard to

advertising,

Savannah, Georgia

day of March,

1991.

Def endant and any successor

any name within this District.

Lamar W Davis, Jr.
United States Bankruptcy Judge
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